# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 1/2/2018 10:38 AM SUPREME COURT NO.



NO. 34347-2-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FEB 2 2018
WASHINGS NOTATE
SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### DAVID LEWIS,

Petitioner.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRANT COUNTY

The Honorable David Estudillo, Judge

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

#### **

B.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. <u>Substantive Evidence</u> 2
	2. Jury Instructions, Closing Argument, and Verdict
•	3. Appellate Proceedings
D.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 8
	THE NINTH CIRCUIT'S DECISION IN <u>CRACE</u> AND DIVISION THREE'S DISAGREEMENT WITH <u>GRIER</u> IN THIS CASE DEMONSTRATE <u>GRIER</u> IS BOTH INCORRECT AND HARMFUL, WARRANING THIS COURT'S REVIEW 8
	1. Grier's holding on the deficiency prong of Strickland is incorrect to the extent it creates a categorical rule that defense counsel is never deficient for failing to request a lesser included offense instruction
	Grier is also incorrect because it conflates sufficiency of the evidence and Strickland's prejudice inquiry
	3. Grier is harmful to criminal defendants and judicial economy
E.	CONCLUSION

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>In re Pers. Restraint of Crace</u> 174 Wn.2d 835, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012)
In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek 77 Wn.2d 649, 466 P.2d 508 (1970)
<u>State v. Barber</u> 170 Wn.2d 854, 248 P.3d 494 (2011)
<u>State v. Condon</u> 182 Wn.2d 307, 343 P.3d 357 (2015)
<u>State v. Estes</u> 188 Wn.2d 450, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017)
State v. Grier 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) 1, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12-15, 17, 18, 19, 20
<u>State v. Johnson</u> 188 Wn.2d 742, 399 P.3d 507 (2017)
<u>State v. Nichols</u> 161 Wn.2d 1, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007)
<u>State v. Reichenbach</u> 153 Wn.2d 126, 101 P.3d 80 (2004)
<u>State v. Thomas</u> 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987)

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)**

Pag
FEDERAL CASES
Autrey v. State 700 N.E.2d 1140 (Ind. 1998)
Beck v. Alabama 447 U.S. 625, 100 S. Ct. 2382, 65 L. Ed. 2d 392 (1980)
Breakiron v. Horn 642 F.3d 126 (3d Cir. 2011)
Crace v. Herzog 798 F.3d 840 (9th Cir. 2015),
Keeble v. United States 412 U.S. 205, 93 S. Ct. 1993, 36 L. Ed. 2d 844 (1973)
Strickland v. Washington 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)1, 7-9, 12-18
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.11 (3d ed. 2008)
Kyron Huigens  The Doctrine of Lesser Included Offenses  16 U. PUGET SOUND L. REV. 185 (1992)
RAP 13.4
U.S. Const. amend. VI
Const. art. I, § 22

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner David Lewis asks this Court to grant review of the court of appeals' unpublished decision in <u>State v. Lewis</u>, No. 34347-2-III, filed December 7, 2017 (attached as an appendix).

#### B. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(3) to determine whether this Court's decision in State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011), is both incorrect and harmful, given the Ninth Circuit's subsequent decision in Crace v. Herzog, 798 F.3d 840, 847 (9th Cir. 2015), calling Grier "patently unreasonable," and given the court of appeals' decision in this case recognizing that Grier "conflates the question of sufficiency of evidence with prejudice" under the Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984), standard for ineffective assistance of counsel?

#### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The State charged Lewis with three counts of second degree burglary (Counts 1-3) and two counts of third degree theft (Counts 4-5). CP 1-3. The State alleged that on December 18 and 19, 2015, Lewis entered or remained unlawfully in the Ephrata Athletic Club, within intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein. CP 1-2. The State further alleged that

on December 18, 2015, Lewis stole property belonging to Roger Holloway and John Ergler. CP 2-3.

#### 1. Substantive Evidence

Mike Scellick owns the Ephrata Athletic Club (the "club") in Ephrata, Washington. 3RP 145-46. Members must use an access code or sign in at the front desk to enter the club. 3RP 149-50. Lewis was a member of the club for a short period of time until he was no longer welcome there. 3RP 147-48. Pursuant to Scellick's request, Officer Billy Roberts informed Lewis in March 2014 that he was no longer allowed at the club and would be arrested for trespass if he returned. 3RP 148-49, 201-02.

Burglary Count 1 and Theft Count 4. On the morning of December 18, 2015, Holloway went to the club to exercise. 3RP 172. He left his clothes hanging on hooks inside the men's locker room. 3RP 172-73. After exercising, he discovered he "was missing everything out of [his] pockets," including a pocketknife, fingernail clippers, and around \$100 in cash. 3RP 173. He did not see who took the items, but he reported them missing to Scellick. 3RP 173-75.

A surveillance video showed Lewis enter the club around 7:37 a.m., wearing a fairly distinctive "zig-zag" coat. Ex. P2 (track 1); 3RP 153-60, 195. Lewis went inside the men's locker room, where he remained for

approximately six minutes. Ex. P2 (track 1). Lewis was never found in possession of Holloway's property.

Burglary Count 2 and Theft Count 5. In the early afternoon on December 19, Ergler went to the club to exercise. 3RP 177-78. Ergler testified he saw Lewis sitting on a bench inside the men's locker room, without a gym bag and wearing street clothes. 2RP 177-79. Ergler said that when he returned from exercising, Lewis was still sitting there. 2RP 179. Ergler went to retrieve a few dollars from his pants to use the tanning bed, but discovered the money was missing from his pocket. 2RP 179. Ergler did not see who took the money, but reported it to the woman at the front desk. 2RP 179-82.

Another surveillance video showed Lewis enter the gym at 1:12 p.m., wearing the same zig-zag coat, and go inside the men's locker room. Ex. P2 (track 2); 3RP 160-63. At 1:16 p.m., Lewis exited the gym wearing a different coat, with something that appeared to be stuffed under the coat. Ex. P2 (track 2); 3RP 161. No one reported a coat missing and Lewis was never found in possession of Ergler's money. See 3RP 211-12.

Burglary Count 3. On December 19, Harold Franks, who knows Lewis, went to exercise at the club. 3RP 183-86. When Franks entered the club at 6:36 p.m., Lewis followed him inside before the door closed. 3RP 186; Ex. P12 (track 1). Franks reminded Lewis he was not a member of the

club and told him to wait outside. 3RP 186. Lewis responded that he was meeting a friend there. 3RP 186. Franks said Lewis went straight to the men's locker room and stayed there the entire time. 3RP 187-89; Ex. P12 (track 1). Franks eventually called the police, knowing Lewis was not supposed to be in the club. 3RP 188-90.

Officer Roberts responded at 7:09 p.m. 3RP 199-203; Ex. P12 (track 4). When Roberts opened the door to the men's locker room, he and Lewis "almost bumped into each other." 3RP 203. Lewis told Roberts he had previously been in the locker room to get out of the bad weather. 3RP 205.

In his arms, Lewis had one pair of Nike tennis shoes and another pair of "very worn" tennis shoes that were wet and cold. 3RP 203-10. He was wearing a pair of Brooks tennis shoes. 3RP 206. Lewis's shoe size did not match the Brooks or Nike shoes. 3RP 210. When Roberts asked where Lewis got the shoes, Lewis said "they were his and he had them with him." 3RP 205. No owners of the shoes ever came forward. 3RP 213-14.

#### 2. Jury Instructions, Closing Argument, and Verdict

At the end of the first day of trial, the prosecutor noted, "I anticipate that there will be a request for a lesser included" instruction on criminal trespass. 2RP 134. The prosecutor believed there was no basis for the instructions on burglary counts two and three, "[b]ecause in two you can clearly see that there's something under the coat, and in three, he's got the --

he's got the shoes in his hands." 2RP 134. The prosecutor noted she would be prepared to argue that the following day. 2RP 134. The court asked defense counsel if he was going to request lesser included instructions. 2RP 134. Defense counsel responded, "We have to discuss that with the defendant... If so, we would probably request them for all three." 2RP 135.

The following morning, the prosecutor noted she and defense counsel "have incorporated a lesser included for count one, the burglary occurring on December 18th." 3RP 141. Defense counsel did not thereafter request lesser included instructions for the remaining two burglary counts, and made no objection to the lack of lesser included instructions. 3RP 218-26. Consistent with this, the trial court gave a lesser included criminal trespass instruction only for burglary count one. CP 43-46; 3RP 237-39.

Despite the lack of lesser included instructions, defense counsel asked the jury to find Lewis "[g]uilty of criminal trespass only." 3RP 255. Defense counsel acknowledged Lewis entered the athletic club unlawfully. 3RP 256. He asserted, however, there was no evidence Lewis entered with intent to commit a crime. 3RP 256. Lewis was not found in possession of Holloway's and Ergler's missing items, and the State never established the coat and shoes were actually stolen. 3RP 255-58. Counsel asserted all the State established was "[c]oincidence and ownerless property." 3RP 258. Defense counsel reiterated, "Criminal trespass only." 3RP 257. In his final

remarks, he again asked the jury, "Find him guilty, sure. Of criminal trespass, criminal trespass and criminal trespass." 3RP 258.

The jury found Lewis not guilty on the first burglary count, but guilty of criminal trespass. CP 54-55. The jury found Lewis guilty of the second and third burglary counts. CP 56-57. Finally, the jury acquitted Lewis of both theft counts. CP 58-59; CP 63-64. Lewis timely appealed. CP 78.

#### 3. Appellate Proceedings

On appeal, Lewis argued his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request instructions on the lesser included offense of criminal trespass for the second and third burglary counts. First, he contended he was entitled to lesser included instructions on criminal trespass, because there was evidence suggesting he did not have intent to commit a crime against persons or property inside the club, and therefore could have committed only the lesser crime. Br. of Appellant, at 7-11.

Second, Lewis argued his attorney was deficient in failing to request the lesser included instructions where it was clear he was not seeking outright acquittal on the burglary counts. There could be no real dispute Lewis entered the club unlawfully, which would make him guilty of criminal trespass. Defense counsel then asked the jury to find Lewis guilty of criminal trespass on all three burglary counts, even though two counts did

not have lesser included instructions. Unlike <u>Grier</u>, Lewis's counsel did not take an all-or-nothing approach. Br. of Appellant, at 11-14.

And, third, Lewis argued his attorney's deficient performance undermined confidence in the outcome of the trial. Lewis acknowledged this Court's holding in <u>Grier</u> that a criminal appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice resulting from his counsel's failure to request a lesser included instruction where he was convicted of the greater offense. Lewis nevertheless contended the reasoning of <u>Grier</u> is incorrect, because sufficient evidence supporting the jury's guilty verdict does not mean the jury is required to reach the same verdict. Lewis pointed out that <u>Grier</u>'s analysis of <u>Strickland</u> prejudice essentially eliminates all ineffective assistance claims for failure to request lesser included instructions. Br. of Appellant, at 14-22.

The court of appeals agreed <u>Grier</u> "conflates the question of sufficiency of evidence with prejudice." Opinion, at 17. The court noted <u>Grier</u> "may have ignored [the] general standard of prejudice [under <u>Strickland</u>], for purposes of an ineffective assistance of counsel analysis. and established a greater burden for the accused to carry in our context of the failure to seek a lesser included offense jury instruction." Opinion, at 14. Ultimately, however, the court of appeals recognized it lacked the authority to overrule Grier. Opinion, at 20.

The court then analyzed prejudice under Strickland. The court affirmed Lewis's convictions, concluding "[t]he totality of the evidence does not undermine our confidence in the second degree burglary convictions." Opinion, at 22. The court believed "the State presented strong evidence of the crime and Lewis lacked a sufficient countering explanation." Opinion, at 21. The court therefore rejected Lewis's ineffective assistance claim on the prejudice prong and did not reach the deficiency prong. Opinion, at 13.

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

THE NINTH CIRCUIT'S DECISION IN <u>CRACE</u> AND DIVISION THREE'S DISAGREEMENT WITH <u>GRIER</u> IN THIS CASE DEMONSTRATE <u>GRIER</u> IS BOTH INCORRECT AND HARMFUL, WARRANING THIS COURT'S REVIEW.

Every accused person enjoys the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. 1, § 22; Strickland, 466 U.S. at 685-86; State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). That right is violated when (1) defense counsel's performance was deficient and (2) that deficiency prejudiced the accused. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 225-26. "A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel may be considered for the first time on appeal as an issue of constitutional magnitude." State v. Nichols, 161 Wn.2d 1, 9, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007).

This Court does not lightly set aside precedent. State v. Johnson, 188 Wn.2d 742, 756, 399 P.3d 507 (2017). The doctrine of stare decisis

therefore "requires a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned." <u>In re Rights to Waters of Stranger Creek</u>, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). This Court's review is warranted because Grier is both incorrect and harmful.

1. Grier's holding on the deficiency prong of Strickland is incorrect to the extent is creates a categorical rule that defense counsel is never deficient for failing to request a lesser included offense instruction.

Counsel's performance is deficient when it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689; <u>Thomas</u>, 109 Wn.2d at 226. There is a strong presumption that defense counsel's conduct is not deficient. <u>State v. Reichenbach</u>, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004). That presumption is rebutted, however, "where there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance." <u>Id.</u>

The <u>Grier</u> court concluded the decision to request lesser included offense instructions "is a decision that requires input from both the defendant and her counsel but ultimately rests with defense counsel." 171 Wn.2d at 32. Thus, Grier's agreement to forgo lesser included instructions did not bar her subsequent ineffective assistance of counsel claim. <u>Id.</u>

The <u>Grier</u> court ultimately concluded, however, that Grier's ineffective assistance claim failed. <u>Id.</u> In so holding, the court created a nearly categorical rule that pursuing an "all or nothing" approach and

forgoing lesser included instructions is a legitimate trial strategy. <u>Id.</u> at 39-40. The court believed it was a reasonable strategy to gamble on acquittal rather than pursue a compromise verdict. <u>Id.</u> at 39. In such circumstances, a lesser included instruction could undermine a claim of innocence. <u>Id.</u> Likewise, "a criminal defendant who genuinely believes she is innocent may prefer to avoid a compromise verdict, even when the odds are stacked against her." <u>Id.</u>

This is essentially what happened at Grier's trial, where her defense theories supported acquittal, rather than a compromise verdict. <u>Id.</u> at 42-43. The court therefore concluded "Grier and her defense counsel reasonably could have believed that an all-or-nothing strategy was the best approach to achieve an outright acquittal." <u>Id.</u> at 43.

The holding of <u>Grier</u> makes sense in circumstances where defense counsel is clearly seeking outright acquittal rather than a compromise verdict. To the extent <u>Grier</u> creates a categorical rule that failure to request a lesser included instruction is never deficient performance, though, it is incorrect and should be overruled.

There are instances, like this case, where defense counsel did not seek outright acquittal. Despite the lack of lesser included instructions, defense counsel asked the jury to find Lewis "[g]uilty of criminal trespass only." 3RP 255. Counsel pointed out Lewis was never found in possession

of Holloway's and Ergler's missing items, and no owners of the jacket or shoes Lewis had in his possession ever came forward. 3RP 255-58. Counsel accordingly argued, "Find him guilty, sure. Of criminal trespass, criminal trespass and criminal trespass." 3RP 258. Given his repetition of "criminal trespass" three times, defense counsel was clearly asking the jury to find Lewis guilty of only criminal trespass on all three burglary counts. But only one count had a lesser included instruction.

The record shows Lewis's counsel did not take an all-or-nothing approach. Acquittal was not a realistic goal, nor was it sought by defense counsel. Rather, counsel pursued a compromise verdict: asking the jury to convict Lewis of criminal trespass rather than burglary. There was no reasonable strategy for not requesting lesser included instructions on criminal trespass but then asking the jury to convict Lewis of criminal trespass in closing argument.

The Ninth Circuit reached a similar decision in <u>Crace</u>. Crace was convicted of attempted second degree assault for brandishing a sword at a police officer. <u>Crace v. Herzog</u>, 798 F.3d 840, 843 (9th Cir. 2015). The offense was his third strike under Washington's three-strikes law, so he was sentenced to life without parole. <u>Id.</u>

In a personal restraint petition, Crace argued his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request an instruction on the lesser included offense

of unlawful display of a weapon. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Crace</u>, 174 Wn.2d 835, 836-37, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012). Applying <u>Grier</u>, this Court rejected Crace's argument on the prejudice prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test because "[t]here was sufficient evidence from which a juror could conclude Crace committed this offense." <u>Id.</u> at 847-48. This Court did not reach the deficiency prong. <u>Id.</u> Crace then petitioned for habeas corpus in federal court, making the same argument. <u>Crace</u>, 798 F.3d at 843.

The Ninth Circuit concluded Crace was entitled to an instruction on the lesser offense. <u>Id.</u> at 850. The evidence supported an inference that Crace only displayed the sword and did not intend to create reasonable fear of bodily injury. <u>Id.</u> The trial court therefore would have been obligated to give the instruction had defense counsel requested one. <u>Id.</u> at 851. Crace's trial counsel submitted a declaration after the fact explaining he did not offer a lesser included instruction because he did not consider it. <u>Id.</u> at 852. The court held this "outright failure even to <u>consider</u> the possibility of requesting a lesser included offense constituted deficient performance." Id

But the Ninth Circuit also explained it would find deficient performance even if Crace's attorney had consciously chosen not to request the instruction. <u>Id.</u> The court acknowledged an all-or-nothing strategy may be reasonable in some circumstances. <u>Id.</u> But, in Crace's case, the jury was instructed on another lesser included offense—attempted second degree

assault. <u>Id.</u> There was no longer any conceivable reason for Crace's counsel not to request an instruction on a second lesser included offense. <u>Id.</u> Furthermore, an all-or-nothing strategy was also "clearly inappropriate" where "a conviction only for unlawful display of a weapon would have spared Crace a third strike and thus decades of prison time." <u>Id.</u> at 852-53.

2. <u>Grier is also incorrect because it conflates sufficiency of the evidence and Strickland's prejudice inquiry.</u>

Prejudice occurs when there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's deficiency, the result would have been different. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226. A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Id. The accused "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of the case." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693.

The <u>Grier</u> court found no prejudice resulting from counsel's failure to request a lesser included instruction, reasoning:

Assuming, as this court must, that the jury would not have convicted Grier of second degree murder unless the State had met its burden of proof, the availability of a compromise verdict would not have changed the outcome of Grier's trial. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S. Ct. 2052 ("a court should presume . . . that the judge or jury acted according to law"); [Autrey v. State, 700 N.E.2d 1140, 1142 (Ind. 1998)] (availability of manslaughter would not have affected outcome where jury found defendant guilty of murder beyond reasonable doubt).

171 Wn.2d at 43-44; see also Crace, 174 Wn.2d at 847-48.

This reasoning is incorrect. Sufficient evidence supporting the jury's guilty verdict does not mean the jury is required to reach the same verdict. The jury might decide a lesser included offense is better suited to the facts of the case. In State v. Condon, 182 Wn.2d 307, 321, 343 P.3d 357 (2015), for instance, this Court held sufficient evidence supported premeditation, but nevertheless concluded the trial court erroneously denied a lesser included instruction "[b]ecause a rational jury could have had a reasonable doubt as to premeditation." It is conjecture to hold a jury that was never given the option to consider a lesser included offense would necessarily reach the same verdict as a jury that was.

The Ninth Circuit recently recognized Grier's reasoning is invalid:

The Washington Supreme Court's methodology is a patently unreasonable application of <u>Strickland</u>.... <u>Strickland</u> did instruct reviewing courts to presume that trial juries act "according to law," but the Washington Supreme Court... has read far more into that instruction than it fairly supports and, as a result, has sanctioned an approach to <u>Strickland</u> that sidesteps the reasonable-probability analysis that <u>Strickland</u>'s prejudice prong explicitly requires.

#### Crace, 798 F.3d at 847. The Crace court explained:

[Strickland] does not require a court to presume—as the Washington Supreme Court did—that, because a jury convicted the defendant of a particular offense at trial, the jury could not have convicted the defendant on a lesser included offense based upon evidence that was consistent with the elements of both.

<u>Id.</u> "The Washington Supreme Court thus was wrong to assume that, because there was sufficient evidence to support the original verdict, the jury <u>necessarily</u> would have reached the same verdict even if instructed on an additional lesser included offense." Id. at 847-48.

As the <u>Crace</u> court noted, the infirmity in <u>Grier</u> is that it conflates sufficiency of the evidence and <u>Strickland</u>'s prejudice inquiry:

[U]nder the Washington Supreme Court's approach, a defendant can only show <u>Strickland</u> prejudice when the evidence is insufficient to support the jury's verdict.... And conversely, if the evidence is sufficient to support the verdict, there is <u>categorically</u> no <u>Strickland</u> error, according to the Washington Supreme Court's logic. By reducing the question to sufficiency of the evidence, the Washington Supreme Court has focused on the wrong question here—one that has nothing to do with <u>Strickland</u>.

Crace, 798 F.3d at 849; see also Breakiron v. Horn, 642 F.3d 126, 140 (3d Cir. 2011) (holding Strickland requires the reviewing court to "weigh all the evidence of record... to determine whether there was a reasonable probability that the jury would have convicted [the defendant] only of [the lesser offense] if it had been given that option. Merely noting that the evidence was sufficient to convict does not accomplish that task.").

<u>Crace</u>'s reasoning is sound whereas <u>Grier</u>'s is not. When an element of the charged offense remains in doubt, but the accused appears guilty of some wrongdoing, the jury is likely to resolve its doubts in favor of

conviction.<sup>1</sup> Crace, 798 F.3d at 848. The Crace court recognized it is "perfectly plausible that a jury that convicted on a particular offense at trial did so despite doubts about the proof of that offense—doubts that, with 'the availability of a third option,' could have led it to convict on a lesser included offense." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Keeble v. United States</u>, 412 U.S. 205, 213, 93 S. Ct. 1993, 36 L. Ed. 2d 844 (1973)).

A jury could rationally find a lesser included offense to be best supported by the evidence, consistent with its instructions. <u>Id.</u>; <u>see also</u> 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.11, at 90 (3d ed. 2008) ("When a crime has been proved against a person, and there exists a reasonable doubt as to which of two or more [degrees] [crimes] that person is guilty, he or she shall be convicted only of the lowest [degree] [crime]."). Providing the jury with a third option of convicting on a lesser included offense "ensures that the jury will accord the defendant the full benefit of the reasonable-doubt standard." <u>Beck v.</u> Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 634, 100 S. Ct. 2382, 65 L. Ed. 2d 392 (1980).

In considering prejudice, <u>Crace</u> again provides a useful analogy. If the unlawful display of a weapon instruction had been given, the Ninth Circuit concluded, "the evidence could well have led Crace's jury to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>See also</u> Kyron Huigens, <u>The Doctrine of Lesser Included Offenses</u>, 16 U. PUGET SOUND L. REV. 185, 193 (1992) ("When faced with a choice between acquittal and conviction of a crime not quite proved by the evidence, a jury can be expected, if some sort of wrongdoing is evident, to opt for conviction.").

question whether he acted with the specific intent required for attempted second-degree assault." Crace, 798 F.3d at 851. As it was, however, "the jury's only option short of convicting on attempted assault was to acquit Crace outright." Id. The court believed there was a reasonable probability that, if given an additional option, the jury would have convicted Crace only of the lesser unlawful display of a weapon offense, which has no intent requirement. Id. This satisfied the prejudice prong of Strickland. Id. The Ninth Circuit accordingly affirmed the district court's grant of Crace's petition for habeas corpus. Id. at 843.

The court of appeals in Lewis's case considered only the prejudice prong of the Strickland analysis. Opinion, at 13. In so doing, the court explained the "reasonable probability" standard for establishing prejudice under Strickland "is lower than a preponderance standard." Opinion, at 14 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694; State v. Estes. 188 Wn.2d 450, 458, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017)). Therefore, the court concluded, Lewis "must show something less than a likelihood of acquittal on the two convictions for burglary in order to establish prejudice." Opinion, at 14.

The court of appeals then noted <u>Grier</u> "may have ignored this general standard of prejudice, for purposes of an ineffective assistance of counsel analysis. and established a greater burden for the accused to carry in our context of the failure to seek a lesser included offense jury instruction."

Opinion, at 14. The court further emphasized this Court's <u>Crace</u> decision "blends a tactically driven presentation by counsel with lack of prejudice" and "also conflates the question of sufficiency with prejudice." Opinion, at 17. The court acknowledged, however, that it "lacks authority to overrule a Washington Supreme Court decision," while recognizing a federal court may eventually reverse on collateral review, given the Ninth Circuit's decision in <u>Crace</u>. Opinion, at 20.

Thus, not only has the Ninth Circuit recognized the incorrectness of <u>Grier</u>'s prejudice analysis, but now three judges at the Washington Court of Appeals have done the same. These decisions signify it is time for this Court to take another look at Grier.

3. <u>Grier</u> is harmful to criminal defendants and judicial economy.

Grier is harmful for at least three reasons. See State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 864, 248 P.3d 494 (2011) (recognizing a decision must be "both incorrect and harmful" before it is overruled). First, Grier's analysis of Strickland prejudice effectively eliminates all ineffective assistance claims for failure to request lesser included instructions whenever sufficient evidence supports a guilty verdict. Grier insulates defense counsel's unreasonable and unsupportable decisions—and therefore a defendant's

constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel—from judicial scrutiny.

Such a result is harmful to criminal defendants.

Second, <u>Grier</u> is harmful to judicial economy. A criminal defendant could exhaust his appeals in Washington state courts, yet obtain no relief for his counsel's ineffectiveness in failing to request a lesser included instruction. He could then petition for habeas corpus in federal court and receive a new trial under the Ninth Circuit's decision in <u>Crace</u>. This creates an unnecessary two-tier system where there is no relief in state court, but there is relief in federal court. Indeed, the court of appeals here "recognize[d] that federal court may eventually, on collateral review, impose its view of ineffective assistance of counsel under principles of the United States Constitution." Opinion, at 20. Because criminal defendants must exhaust their direct state appeals before seeking federal relief, this creates unnecessary and excessive litigation.

Finally, the two-tier system creates significant delay for criminal defendants seeking a new trial. This not only hinders justice for the defendant, but also for the other individuals involved. Witnesses' memories deteriorate over time. A key witness may pass away in the time it takes a defendant to achieve a new trial in federal court where he or she cannot in state court. This could hamper the defendant's right to a fair trial and unnecessarily draw out the process for witnesses and victims, potentially

causing additional hardship or trauma from testifying years after the fact.

And, the less likely it will be that the original prosecutor and trial judge can be assigned to the case, requiring the parties to start over in order to retry the defendant.

In summary, <u>Grier</u> is both incorrect and harmful, as the Ninth Circuit has recognized and three judges at the Washington Court of Appeals have now recognized. This Court's review is therefore warranted under both RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(3).

#### E. CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, Lewis respectfully asks this Court to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(3).