FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/21/2018 10:56 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 95478-0 NO. 34347-2-III

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT v. DAVID STEWART LEWIS, APPELLANT COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III NO. 34347-2-III STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

GARTH DANO
Grant County Prosecuting Attorney

KATHARINE W. MATHEWS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 20805 Attorneys for Respondent

P.O. Box 37 Ephrata, Washington 98823 PH: (509) 754-2011

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether this Court should revisit the reasoning that led to its decisions in *Grier* and *Crace* is a question of law, subject to de novo review. *See. e.g., Detention of Peterson v. State*, 145 Wn.2d 789, 808, 42 P.3d 952 (2002) (determination of proper review standard for sexually violent predator proceedings depend on whether question presented is one of fact or a mixed question of law and fact).

B. Lewis identifies a dormant, moot issue in which he has no genuine, direct, or substantial interest. This Court should not accept review because there is no justiciable controversy, rendering any opinion advisory only.

The Washington Supreme Court does not render advisory

opinions. Walker v. Munro, 124 Wn.2d 402, 414, 879 P.2d 920, 927 (1994) (citing Washington Beauty College, Inc. v. Huse, 195 Wash. 160, 164, 80 P.2d 403 (1938)). Supreme Court jurisdiction over an issue requires a justiciable controversy. State v. Eggleston, 164 Wn.2d 61, 76, 187 P.3d 233 (2008). Lewis does not assert a justiciable controversy in this case, nor can he. A justiciable controversy is:

(1) an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive.

Diversified Indus. Dev. Corp. v. Ripley, 82 Wn.2d 811, 815, 514 P.2d 137 (1973) (quoted with approval in Eggleston, 164 Wn.2d at 76-77). "These elements must coalesce, otherwise the court steps into the prohibited area of advisory opinions." Diversified, 82 Wn.2d at 815 (request for declaratory action unripe when injured party's potential claim was an "unpredictable contingency.") Id. at 736.

Lewis has not identified an actual, present and existing dispute between parties having genuine and opposing interests. He does not challenge the ultimate decision of the Court of Appeals that, because substantial evidence in his case supported only the higher crime of burglary, he cannot show prejudice under either the arguably harsher "Grier standard" or the "laxer" test established by the Ninth Circuit in Crace. Lewis, supra. No. 34347-2-III at 27.

The Court of Appeals engaged in an exhaustive analysis of standards for determining prejudice in claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, starting with the "general standard of prejudice," under which Lewis had to "show something less than a likelihood of acquittal on the two convictions for burglary in order to establish prejudice." *Lewis, supra*, No. 34347-2-III at 17-18. After a meticulous discussion of *Grier* and the Ninth Circuit's ruling in *Crace*, the Court concluded "that we need not choose between the definition of prejudice under *Grier* or under *Crace*. Even under the laxer test found in *Crace*, Lewis cannot show prejudice." *Id.* at 27. Resolution of the *Grier/Crace* issue thus cannot be "final and conclusive" in Lewis's case.

The issue is irrelevant to Lewis's case. Any decision by this Court concerning its reasoning in *Grier* will have no effect on Lewis's conviction and sentence, rendering disagreement dormant or moot. This Court ordinarily refuses to consider a question that has become moot, "though it may do so when matters of continuing and substantial public interest that are likely to recur are involved." *In re Post-Sentence in re Combs*, 353 P.3d 631, 631 (Wash. 2015) (denying review when sentence

at issue had long since expired) (citing *Sorenson v. City of Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972)). A similar federal standard for review of moot issues, occasionally cited by Washington courts, is whether the issue is "capable of repetition, yet evading review." *Roe v. Wade*, 410 U.S. 113, 161, 93 S. Ct. 705; 35 L. Ed. 2d 147 (1973); *In re Dependency of H.*, 71 Wn. App. 524, 528, 859 P.2d 1258 (1993).

Although the question of whether this Court should revisit its reasoning in *Grier* might arise in the future, it does not evade review. If the issue arises, it may properly be brought by any appellant having a direct and substantial interest in the ongoing viability of this Court's reasoning in *Grier*. Lewis's claim, however, does not involve interests that are direct and substantial. The outcome of Lewis's case is now determined and will not change. His interest is theoretical and academic and would benefit only unidentified, hypothetical appellants at some future time.

This Court should decline to give an advisory opinion solely to prevent this issue from arising later. Decisions of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals do not control this Court. "The Washington State Supreme Court has the same duty and authority as a federal circuit court to apply the United States Constitution and United States Supreme Court opinions in criminal matters." *State v. Lord*, 161 Wn.2d 276, 287, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007) (citing U.S. Const. art. VI, § 2; 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d)(1)). The

matter should be addressed only if it arises in a case in which the reviewing court eschews the Ninth Circuit's *Crace* analysis in favor of the standard established in *Grier*.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should conclude Lewis fails to identify an actual, present and existing dispute involving genuine, direct, and substantial opposing interests between himself and the State.

This Court should deny Lewis's Petition for Review.